TRAFFIC IMPACT ASSESSMENT

和题者是扩展此现新者尤指计

JE BACKBIEL

Proposed Mixed Use Development 24-26 Railway Parade, Westmead

 Reference:
 16.443r05v01

 Date:
 April 2020



Suite 2.08, 50 Holt St Surry Hills, NSW 2010

t: (02) 8324 8700 w: www.traffix.com.au



DOCUMENT VERIFICATION

Job Number	16.443					
Project	24-26 Railway Parade, Westmead					
Client	Drill Pty Ltd	Drill Pty Ltd				
Revision	Date	Prepared By	Checked By	Signed		
v01	6 April 2020	Shenara Wanigasekera	Ben Liddell	Bartoldell		

CONTENTS

1.	Introduction	1
2.	Location and Site	2
3.	Existing Traffic Conditions	5
	3.1 Road Network	5
	3.2 Public Transport	7
	3.3 Parramatta Light Rail	9
4.	Description of Proposed Development	10
5.	Parking Requirements	11
	5.1 Car Parking	11
	5.2 Accessible Parking	12
	5.3 Bicycle Parking	13
	5.4 Motorcycle Parking	13
	5.5 Refuse Collection and Servicing	13
6.	Traffic and Transport Impacts	16
	6.1 Existing Site Generation	16
	6.2 Development Trip Generation	16
	6.3 Traffic Distributions	18
	6.4 Peak Period Intersection	20
7.	Access and Internal Design Aspects	24
	7.1 Site Vehicular Access	24
	7.2 Internal Design	25
	7.3 Summary	27
	7.4 External Design Aspects	27
8.	Conclusions	28



Appendices

Appendix A: Westmead and Parramatta Bicycle Routes Appendix B: Parramatta Light Rail Project – Map and Traffic Changes Letter Appendix C: Reduced Architectural Plans Appendix D: Traffic Surveys Appendix E: Swept Path Analysis Appendix F: Vertical Clearance Test Appendix G: Existing On-Street Signage Plan Appendix H: Proposed Public Domain Plan



1. INTRODUCTION

TRAFFIX has been commissioned by Drill Pty Ltd to undertake a traffic impact assessment (TIA) in support of a development application (DA) relating to mixed-use development at 24-26 Railway Parade, Westmead, comprising of hotel, commercial, supermarket, retail, tavern, food/beverage and medical centre uses. The development is located within the Parramatta Council LGA and has been assessed under that Council's controls.

This report documents the findings of our investigations and should be read in the context of the Statement of Environmental Effects (SEE) prepared separately. The development is a minor development and does not require referral to the RMS under the provisions of SEPP (Infrastructure) 2007.

The report is structured as follows:

- Section 2: Describes the site and its location
- Section 3: Documents existing traffic conditions
- Section 4: Describes the proposed development
- Section 5: Assesses the parking requirements
- Section 6: Assesses traffic impacts
- Section 7: Discusses access and internal design aspects
- Section 8: Presents the overall study conclusions



2. LOCATION AND SITE

The site is located at 24-26 Railway Parade, Westmead and is bound by Ashley Lane to the east, Railway Parade to the south and mixed used developments to the west and the north. The site is located approximately 60 metres north of Westmead Railway Station and 21 kilometres north-west of the Sydney Central Business District.

The site is rectangular in configuration having a total site area of approximately 2,550m². It currently accommodates the Westmead Shopping Village (1,380m² of retail) and the Westmead Tavern (520m²).

The site has a southern frontage to Railway Parade and a northern property boundary to a mixed-used development of approximately 46 metres. The eastern boundary frontage is to Ashley Lane with the western boundary to a mixed-used development and are both approximately 50 metres in length. Access to the site is currently provided via a vehicular crossing on Ashley Lane which serves 22 on-site car parking space and three (3) loading spaces.

A Location Plan is presented in Figure 1, with a Site Plan presented in Figure 2.





Figure 1: Location Plan





Figure 2: Site Plan



3. EXISTING TRAFFIC CONDITIONS

3.1 Road Network

The road hierarchy in the vicinity of the site is shown in **Figure 3** with the following roads of particular interest:

Hawkesbury Road:	 part of an RMS Main Road (MR 7481), Hawkesbury Road traverses in a north- south direction between Hainsworth Street in the north and The Great Western Highway in the south. Hawkesbury Road generally carries two (2) lanes of traffic in either direction in the proximity of the site. Two (2) northbound lanes are dedicated for vehicles and a short lane dedicated to buses turning onto the T - way. The road also provides two (2) southbound traffic lanes.
8 Railway Parade:	a local road that traverses in an east-west direction between Park Avenue in the east and Hawkesbury Road in the west. Railway Parade is subject to a 50km/h speed zoning and carries a single lane of traffic in either direction. Kerbside parking is permitted along the northern side of the road, subject to restrictions. 90- degree angled parking is available on the southern side of Railway Parade.
Queens Road:	a local road that traverses in an east-west direction between Park Avenue in the east and Hawkesbury Road in the west. Queens Road is subject to a 50km/h speed zoning and carries a single lane of traffic in either direction. Kerbside parking is permitted along both sides of the road and is subject to a "2P 8:30am- 6:00pm Mon-Fri and 8:00am-12:00pm Saturday" restriction.
Ashley Lane:	a local lane that traverses in a north-south direction between Queens Road in the north and Railway Parade in the south. Ashley Lane carries a single lane of traffic which is restricted to one-way flow northbound and provides parallel parking on the western side subject to a "1P 8:00am-6:00pm, Mon-Fri, 8:30am- 12:00pm, Saturday" restriction.



It can be seen from Figure 3 that the site is conveniently located with respect to the arterial and sub-arterial road systems serving the region with connections to the north and south using Hawkesbury Road.



Figure 3: Road Hierarchy



3.2 Public Transport

The site is located adjacent Westmead Railway Station. The services operating at this station are shown in Figure 4 and are summarised as follows:

- T1 North Shore and Western Line
- 5 Cumberland Line
- BMT Blue Mountains Line

The existing bus services that operate in the locality are also shown in Figure 4. It is evident that the development benefits from good bus services with bus stops in either direction being situated within 400 metres of the site. Details of the bus services are shown in **Table 1** below:

Bus Route	Service	Bus Route	Service
660	Castlewood to Parramatta	705	Blacktown to Parramatta via Seven Hills
661	Blacktown to Parramatta via Kings Langley and North West Twy	708	Constitution Hill to Parramatta via Pendle Hill
662	Castle Hill to Parramatta via Bella Vista and North West Twy	711	Blacktown to Parramatta via Wentworthville
663	Rouse Hill Station to Parramatta via Kellyville Ridge	712	Westmead Children's Hospital to Parramatta
664	Rouse Hill Station to Parramatta via Kellyville	818	Westmead to Merrylands
665	Rouse Hill Station to Parramatta	-	-

Table 1: Bus Services

Additionally, the subject site is located in proximity to the Westmead and Parramatta bicycle routes. Pedestrian facilities are also located around the site with pedestrian paths located on both sides of Hawkesbury Road and Railway Parade and on the western side of Ashley Lane. Pedestrian crossing facilities are also provided on Railway Parade providing access to the Westmead Railway Station and on all legs of the Hawkesbury Road/Railway Parade intersection. The bicycle route map has been included in **Appendix A**, for reference.



Figure 4: Public Transport



3.3 Parramatta Light Rail

The Parramatta Light Rail is a future project announced by the NSW Government. This will consist of two stages, which centres on the Parramatta City Centre:

Stage 1:	16 stops between Carlingford in the north and Westmead to the west.
Stage 2:	10-12 stops between Sydney Olympic Park in the east and joining

A Stage 1 Map is included in **Appendix B** where it is evident that stops will be constructed on Hawkesbury Road to the west of the site.



4. DESCRIPTION OF PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT

A detailed description of the proposed development is provided in the Statement of Environmental Effects prepared separately. In summary, the development for which approval is now sought is a 14-storey mixed use development comprising of the following components:

- 📀 100 room hotel.
- 4,030.8m² GFA commercial space.
- 1,062.8m² GFA supermarket;
- 653.1m² GFA retail space.
- 499.9m² GFA tavern.
- 568.4m² GFA of food and beverage space; and
- ▶ 1,894.8m² GFA medical centre.

The proposed development will accommodate the following on-site parking facilities:

- A three-level basement providing parking for 126 vehicles;
- A loading dock accessed from Ashley Lane providing:
 - 1 x service bay suitable for a 10.24m waste collection vehicle
 - 2 x service bay suitable for an 8.8m Medium Rigid Vehicle; and
 - 1 x service bay suitable for potential ambulance use.

The Development Application will also propose changes to the public domain including a relocated pedestrian crossing on Railway Parade and a future bus parking restriction to serve the hotel. The parking requirements and traffic impacts arising from the development are discussed in **Sections 5** and **Section 6**, respectively. Reference should be made to the plans submitted separately to Council which are presented at a reduced scale in **Appendix C**



5. PARKING REQUIREMENTS

5.1 Car Parking

5.1.1 Council Controls

Under Part 4.3.4.2 of the *Parramatta Development Control Plan (DCP) 2011*, the site has been identified as belonging to a strategic precinct for 24-26 Railway Parade, Westmead. The applicable parking rates for this precinct are shown listed in **Table 2**:

Туре	Area / Rooms	Maximum Parking Rate ²	Maximum Spaces Permissible ³	Parking Provision
		Hotel		
Guests	100 rooms	1 space per 5 rooms	20	
Employees	5 employees⁴	1 space per 3 employees	2	25
		22	25	
Commercial (Office) ¹	4,030.8m ²	1 space per 100m ²	40	26
Supermarket⁵	1,062.8m ²	1 space per 30m ²	35	35
Retail	653.1m ²	1 space per 30m ²	22	6
Tavern	499.9m ²	1 space per 100m ²	5	4
Food and Beverage⁵	568.4m ²	1 space per 30m ²	19	26
Medical Centre	1,894.8m ²	1 space per 300m ²	6	5
		Sub-Total	127	102
		TOTALS	149	127

Table 2: DCP Parking Rates and Provisions

¹ Parking Rate for Commercial Premises adopted from the Parramatta Local Environmental Plan 2011

²Site specific rates adopted for 24-26 Railway Parade, Westmead in accordance with Part 4.3.4.2 of the DCP

³ Parking spaces rounded to the nearest whole number

⁴ Estimate

⁵ Retail Parking rate adopted for Food and Beverage and Supermarket uses

It can be seen that the proposed development is nominally permitted to provide a <u>maximum</u> of 149 car parking spaces. In response, the proposed development provides a total of 127 car parking spaces, comprising 25 spaces for the hotel component and 102 spaces for the commercial and retail uses. The provision of 127 parking spaces is compliant with the Parramatta DCP and LEP and will ensure all normal parking demands are accommodated on-

site, notwithstanding the minor non-compliance with hotel parking (plus 3 spaces over maximum). In particular, provision for 102 parking spaces has been made for retail and commercial uses, which is expected to compensate for any lost parking spaces on Railway Parade associated with the proposed Bus Zone and public domain works.

5.2 Accessible Parking

Part 3 of the DCP requires the number of accessible car parking spaces to be provided as prescribed in Table D3.5 of the Building Code of Australia (BCA). As the development has a mixture of uses the accessible parking requirements have been summarised in **Table 3** below

Туре	Building Class	Accessible Parking Rate	Parking Provision	Accessible Spaces Required	Accessible Spaces Provided
Hotel	3	Percentage of adaptable rooms to overall rooms multiplied by number of spaces	25 (five adaptable rooms)	1.25 (1)	1
Commercial	5	1 space for every 100 carparking spaces or part thereof	26	0.26 (1)	1
Supermarket		1 space for every 50 carparking spaces or	76	1.52 (2)	4
Retail					
Tavern	6				
Food and Beverage		part thereof			
Medical Centre	9				
			Totals	4	6

Table 3: BCA Accessible Parking Rates and Provisions

It can be seen from Table 3 that the proposed development will require a total of four (4) accessible spaces under the BCA. In response, the proposed development provides a total of six (6) accessible spaces comprising a single space for the hotel, a single space for commercial and four (4) spaces for the supermarket, retail, tavern, food and beverage and medical uses, thereby complying with the BCA requirements.

5.3 Bicycle Parking

Part 3.6.2 of the DCP requires bicycle parking to be provided for only certain uses, with applicable rates summarised in **Table 4**.

Туре	Area/Rooms	Parking Rate	Bicycle Parking Requirement	Bicycle Parking Provision
Commercial	4,030.8m ²			
Supermarket	1,062.8m ²		31.6	32
Retail	653.1m ²	1 space per 200m ²		
Food and Beverage	568.4m ²			
		Totals	32	32

Table 4: DCP Bicycle Parking Rates and Provision

As can be seen that the proposed development has a requirement to provide a total of 32 bicycle parking spaces. In response, the proposed development provides a total of 32 bicycle spaces, thereby complying with the DCP.

5.4 Motorcycle Parking

It is noted that Council's DCP or LEP do not provide motorcycle parking rates for the proposed uses. Nevertheless, provision for eight (8) motorcycle parking spaces has been made within the basement car park.

5.5 Refuse Collection and Servicing

Service vehicle requirements for different development types have been assessed in **Table 5** below. Where rates for specific land uses are not listed in the DCP, rates from the RMS Guide to Traffic Generating Developments (RMSGTGD) have been adopted. It is emphasised that the cumulative requirements for individual land use components is of no particular significance as it takes no account of the ability to manage deliveries through a Loading Dock Management Plan.

Туре	Size	DCP Loading Requirement	RMS Loading Requirements	Loading Requirements	Loading Provision	
Hotel	100 rooms	-	1 loading bay per 50 rooms and; 1 space per 1,000m ² public space	2		
Commercial	4,030.8m ²			10.1		
Supermarket	1,062.8m ²	1 loading bay per 400m² GFA	-	2.7		
Retail	653.1m ²		-	1.6	3	
Tavern	499.9m ²	-	1 loading bay per 400 m ²	1.2		
Food and Beverage	568.4m ²	1 loading bay per 400m² GFA	-	1.4		
Medical Centre (Retail)	1,894.8m²	1 loading bay per 400m² GFA	-	4.7		
	23.7 (24)	3				

Table 5: DCP/ RMS Loading Rates and Provisions

It can be seen that the proposed development would nominally require 24 service bays. Notwithstanding, this provision is considered onerous as the rates assume each land use is a standalone development. In response, provision for three (3) service bays have been provided on a separate basement level to the car park. The service bays can accommodate at any time up to two (2) 8.8m long medium rigid vehicles and a 10.24m long waste collection vehicle.

It is envisaged that based on the large bay sizes that a provision of three (3) loading bays will be sufficient to service the proposed development. This would be achievable as many land uses such as supermarkets, hotels and food & beverage shops have fixed servicing requirements that could be scheduled to occur at complimentary times. Furthermore, waste could be consolidated for users to limit the number of collections occurring per week.



Accordingly, a Loading Dock Management Plan is proposed and can be prepared prior to occupation of the proposed development, subject to a suitable condition of consent. The LDMP would address matters such as:

- Details of all delivery and servicing activities to be carried out for all uses on-site;
- O Details of how waste services will be accommodated to meet service requirements;
- O Details of vehicle types required to conduct expected activities;
- Details of frequency of vehicles accessing the dock; and
- Management duties and responsibilities.

Finally, it is understood that the existing development on-site contains a comparable amount of retail space (supermarket), however with less provision for service vehicles. The proposal is therefore expected to result in an improvement over existing loading conditions, particularly as there is presently no formal loading dock management plan.



6. TRAFFIC AND TRANSPORT IMPACTS

6.1 Existing Site Generation

The subject site currently accommodates 1,380m² GFA of retail use and the Westmead Tavern which has a GFA of 520m². The RMSGTGD provides trip rates for retail and tavern developments as follows:

Retail: 4.6 vehicle trips per 100m² of GFA for specialty retail

S Tavern: 1.3 vehicle trips per 100m² of GFA (GTA Consultants 2012)

From the application of the RMS Guidelines, it is likely that the current use of the site would generate in the order of 71 trips per hour during the Thursday evening peak period. The PM trips are expected to be split 50:50 between arrivals and departures. As such, the existing traffic generation is expected to be as follows:

§ 71 vehicle trips per hour during the evening peak period
(36 in, 35 out)

6.2 Development Trip Generation

Given the high proportion of retail uses, the proposed development is expected to generate peak traffic activity during weekday evening periods, with mornings only expected to comprise mostly of journey to work trips. As such, trip rates have been adopted for the PM peak period below, which have either been adopted from the RMSGTGD or are consistent with the Traffic Impact Assessment report accompanying the Planning Proposal for the site.

6.2.1 Hotel

The trip generation rate for the proposed hotel has been adopted from the Traffic Impact Assessment accompanying the Planning Proposal for the site, which was for 0.2 vehicle trips per room.

Application of this rate to the 100 rooms proposed, and adopting a 50:50 directional split results in the following traffic generation:

20 vehicle trips per hour during the evening peak period (10 in, 10 out)



6.2.2 Commercial (Office)

The RMS Technical Direction TDT 2013/04a recommends a trip generation rate of 1.2 vehicle trips per 100m² GFA during the evening peak period for office block developments.

Application of this rate to the 4,030.8m² commercial space and adopting a 20:80 directional split results in the following traffic generation:

48 vehicle trips per hour during the evening peak period (10 in, 38 out)

6.2.3 Retail (Supermarket, Retail and Food and Beverage Tenancies)

The RMS Guide to Traffic Generating Developments recommends a trip generation rate of 4.6 vehicle trips per 100m² gross leasable floor area (assumed equivalent to gross floor area) during the late night Thursday evening peak period for secondary retail stores, inclusive of take-away shops. It is considered that this rate is also appropriate for the supermarket given the restricted parking supply (and recent trends for extended trading hours across all days of the week). A 50:50 directional split has been adopted for the evening peak.

Accordingly, the proposed supermarket, retail and food & beverage tenancies (2,284 m² gross floor area) are expected to generate the following traffic:

105 vehicle trips per hour during the evening peak period (52 in, 53 out)

6.2.4 Tavern

The trip generation rate for the proposed tavern has been adopted from the Traffic Impact Assessment accompanying the Planning Proposal for the site, which was for 1.3 vehicle trips per 100m² gross floor area. Application of this rate to the proposed 499.9 m² gross floor area tavern, and adopting a 50:50 directional split is expected to generate the following traffic genration:

6 vehicle trips per hour during the evening peak period (3 in, 3 out)



6.2.5 Medical Centre

The RMS Guide to Traffic Generating Developments recommends a trip generation rate of 2.2 vehicle trips per 100m² gross leasable floor area (assumed equivalent to gross floor area) for medical centres within shopping centres during evening peak periods. Application of this rate to the proposed 1,894.8 m² gross floor area of medical centre space and adopting a 50:50 directional split results in the following traffic generation:

42 vehicle trips per hour during the evening peak period (21 in, 21 out)

6.2.6 Combined Generation

The combined generation of the commercial components can be summarised as follows:

221 vehicle trips per hour during the evening peak period (96 in, 125 out)

6.2.7 Net Traffic Generation

The above traffic generation does not take into consideration the volumes presently generated by the site. Accordingly, when accounting for the assessment of the existing development, the proposal is expected to result in the following net increase in traffic:

150 vehicle trips per hour during the evening peak period (60 in, 90 out)

6.3 Traffic Distributions

6.3.1 Parramatta Light Rail

Transport for NSW has issued comments in July 2018 with reference to the Parramatta Light Rail project. A copy of this letter is included in **Appendix B** and identifies associated changes to the road network, the following which is of relevance to the site:

Light Rail on Hawkesbury Road.

Queens Road becoming one-way westbound between Hawkesbury Road and Ashley Lane.



- Removal of right-turn vehicle access from Hawkesbury Road, northbound into Queens Road.
- Existing pedestrian crossing on Railway Parade proposed to be relocated west to align with a new mid-block pedestrian link (recommendation only).

When assessing the Environmental Impact Statement (EIS) for the project, it is evident that the line rail will terminate north of Railway Parade as illustrated in **Figure 5**. This is consistent with the SIDRA modelling undertaken for the EIS which did not include the intersection of Hawkesbury Road / Railway Parade or Hawkesbury Road / Alexandra Road. It is therefore presumed that these intersections will continue to operate with the same configuration of lanes as existing conditions, whilst the intersection of Hawkesbury Road and Queens Road will be restricted to a left-out intersection only.



Figure 5: Parramatta Light Rail Route (EIS)



6.3.2 Traffic Distributions

Noting that the access for the proposed development will be from Ashley Lane (one-way northbound), the following split of development traffic has been assumed for the purposes of assessing intersection performance:

100% of traffic to enter Railway Parade from Hawkesbury Road, with

- 30% approaching from the north and west (including from Darcy Road),
- 30% approaching from the south on Hawkesbury Road,
- 30% approaching from the east on Park Parade, and
- 10% approaching from the west on Alexandra Avenue.

100% of traffic to exit Queens Road left onto Hawkesbury Road, with

- 30% departing west by turning right onto Darcy Road,
- 30% departing south on Hawkesbury Road,
- 20% departing east by turning left onto Park Parade,
- 10% to recirculate the local road network by turning left onto Railway Parade, and
- 10% departing west by turning right onto Alexandra Avenue.

6.4 Peak Period Intersection

The performance of the existing road network has been previously assessed for a Planning Proposal lodged for the site in 2012. The accompanying Traffic Impact Assessment report outlined the results of software modelling undertaken for relevant intersections including at Hawkesbury Road / Alexandra Avenue and Hawkesbury Road / Railway Parade. The summary Level of Service parameters show that all intersections were operating within capacity.

TRAFFIX has subsequently undertaken a survey on Thursday 27 September 2018 to account for current external conditions. Noting that the proposed development will have more pronounced impacts during evening periods (having customer generating uses), the two intersections have been remodelled for the PM peak period using SIDRA Intersection 8.0 software. It is noteworthy that this software has since improved in capability to provide network coordination for phasing and a cycle time of 120 seconds has been adopted.

The SIDRA Intersection 8 model produces a range of outputs, the most useful of which are the Degree of Saturation (DoS) and Average Vehicle Delay per vehicle (AVD). The AVD is in turn



related to a level of service (LoS) criteria. These performance measures can be interpreted using the following explanations:

DoS - the DoS is a measure of the operational performance of individual intersections. As both queue length and delay increase rapidly as DoS approaches 1, it is usual to attempt to keep DoS to less than 0.9. When DoS exceeds 0.9 residual queues can be anticipated, as occurs at many major intersections throughout the metropolitan area during peak periods. In this regard, a practical limit at 1.1 can be assumed. For intersections controlled by roundabout or give way/stop control, satisfactory intersection operation is generally indicated by a DoS of 0.8 or less.

AVD - the AVD for individual intersections provides a measure of the operational performance of an intersection. In general, levels of acceptability of AVD for individual intersections depend on the time of day (motorists generally accept higher delays during peak commuter periods) and the road system being modelled (motorists are more likely to accept longer delays on side streets than on the main road system).

LoS - this is a comparative measure which provides an indication of the operating performance of an intersection as shown in **Table 6** below.

Level of Service (LoS)	Average Delay per Vehicle (sec/veh)	Traffic Signals, Roundabout	Give Way and Słop Signs
A	Less than 14	Good Operation	Good Operation
В	15 to 28	Good with acceptable delays and spare capacity	Acceptable delays and space capacity
С	29 to 42	Satisfactory	Satisfactory but accident study required
D	42 to 56	Operating near capacity	Near capacity and accident study required
E	57 to 70	At capacity; at signals incidents will cause excessive delays. Roundabouts require other control mode	At capacity and requires other control mode
F	More than 70	Unsatisfactory and requires additional capacity	Unsatisfactory and requires other control mode or major treatment

Table 6: Intersection Performance Indicators (RMS)

A summary of the modelled results is provided below in **Table 7**. Reference should also be made to the SIDRA outputs provided in **Appendix D** which provide detailed results for individual lanes and approaches.

Intersection	Control	Model	Period	Degree of Saturation	Average Delay (s)	Level of Service
Hawkesbury Road / Alexandra Avenue	Signals	Existing	DAA	0.760	35.4	С
	Signais	Development	F M	0.793	36.1	С
Hawkesbury Road / Railway Parade	Signals	Existing	РМ	0.753	18.0	В
		Development		0.791	24.0	В
Hawkesbury Road / Queens Road	Priority*	Existing	PM	0.597	10.7	В
		Development		0.256	5.9	А

Table 7: Existing and Development Intersection Performances

* SIDRA results reported for priority-controlled intersections relate to the movement with the highest delay, in accordance with the RMS Guide.

** Model includes modified layout in response to changes to accommodate the Parramatta Light Rail Project.

It can be seen from **Table 7** that the intersections of Hawkesbury Road / Alexandra Avenue and Hawkesbury Road / Railway Parade operate at a Level of Service of 'C' or better during the PM peak period in the existing scenario. The priority-controlled intersection upstream at Hawkesbury Road / Queens Road has also been modelled which operates with a Level of Service of 'B' in the existing scenario.

It can be seen that the addition of development traffic will result in minimal increase in average delay for the intersections of Hawkesbury Road / Alexandra Avenue and Hawkesbury Road / Railway Parade, with the Level of Service of 'C' or better, indicating that the road network will have spare capacity.

It is noted that the operation of the intersection of Hawkesbury Road and Queens Road will significantly improve post light railway construction, and this is demonstrated with the average delay reducing from 10.7 seconds to 5.9 seconds in the PM peak period. This corresponds to a change in level of service from 'B' to 'A'.



It is therefore assumed that the traffic impacts arising from the proposed development will be minor, to which it is expected that the impacts during the AM peak period would also be minimal, given that the above assessment accounts for customer generated traffic during a late night trading period (Thursday). In addition, this assessment represents a worst-case scenario, with no account taken of the trip reductions from internalised (multi-purpose) trips that will occur in practice, due to the synergy between each land use component. That is, improved conditions can be expected, with reduced delays and no unacceptable traffic impacts.



7. ACCESS AND INTERNAL DESIGN ASPECTS

7.1 Site Vehicular Access

7.1.1 Carpark Access

Nominal driveway widths for car parks are stipulated in Table 3.2 of the off-street car parking standard AS2890.1 (2004). Notwithstanding, Section 3.2 permits driveway widths to be determined by accepted design procedures should traffic data be more accurately known.

The proposed access location is on Ashley Lane, which is noted to restrict traffic to one-way flow in a northbound direction. As such, the proposed access will in-turn be restricted to a simplified left-in and left-out arrangement.

Accordingly, a swept path analysis has been undertaken of the proposed car park access, which has a minimum width of 5.5m. The results of the analysis are presented in **Appendix E** and demonstrate that simultaneous flow can occur between entering and exiting vehicles.

The proposed car park access is therefore expected to operate satisfactorily in accordance with the provisions in the standard.

7.1.2 Loading Dock Access

A separate access for the loading dock has been proposed on Ashley Lane, with a minimum width of 4.6m. Under the off-street commercial vehicle parking standard AS2890.2 (2018), the loading arrangements for the proposed development are considered to be consistent with 'regular service' on a 'minor road'. These conditions bear the following requirements:

- Where providing regular service from a minor road, manoeuvring on-street, if permitted by the relevant authority, shall be strictly limited to one reverse movement either onto or off the street, and be subject to determination of both safety and obstruction to other on-street traffic."
- The swept path of the maximum size design vehicle using the facility may be allowed to occupy the entire width (less specified clearances) of a two-way access driveway when the vehicle is entering or leaving the minor road."



In response the proposed access has been designed to accommodate forward entry and exit movements as evidenced by the swept path analysis in **Appendix E** for the largest vehicle to enter the loading dock, being a 10.24m waste collection vehicle. This arrangement will therefore result in a safer outcome than a reverse entry movement whilst minimising obstruction.

Prior to a Construction Certificate, further details will be provided regarding a traffic signal system that will be implemented to facilitate flow between the access and loading dock on Level LB1.

7.2 Internal Design

The design of the proposed development generally complies with AS2890.1 (2004), AS2890.2 (2018) and AS2890.6 (2009), with the following considered noteworthy:

7.2.1 Parking Modules

- All retail car parking spaces have been designed to User Class 3 dimensions with parking bays being a minimum 2.6 metres in width, 5.4 metres in length and provided a minimum 5.8 metre aisle.
- All commercial car parking spaces have been designed to User Class 1A dimensions with parking bays being a minimum 2.4 metres in width, 5.4 metres in length and provided a minimum 5.8 metre aisle.
- All hotel car parking spaces have been designed to User Class 2 dimensions with parking bays being a minimum 2.5 metres in width, 5.4 metres in length and provided a minimum 5.8 metre aisle.
- All accessible car parking spaces have been designed in accordance with AS2890.6 (2009), having a minimum space length of 5.4 metres, a minimum width of 2.4 metres with and are located adjacent to a 2.4 metre wide shared area.
- Ten (10) parking spaces have been designed in accordance with Small Car dimensions under AS2890.1 (2004), which achieve a minimum space width of 2.3m and space length of 5.0m.



- All spaces located adjacent to obstructions of greater than 150mm in height are provided with an additional width of 300mm.
- Dead-end aisles are provided with the required 1.0m aisle extension in accordance with Figure 2.3 of AS2890.1 (2004).

7.2.2 Ramps and Clear Head Heights

- The main vehicular access ramp to the site is provided with a maximum grade of 1:20 (5%) for the first 6.0 metres within the property boundary, satisfying Clause 3.3(b) of AS2890.1 (2004).
- Ramps associated with the basement car park have a maximum gradient of 20% (1 in 5) for a length not exceeding 20 metres.

7.2.3 Clear Head Heights

- A minimum clear head height of 2.2m is to be provided for all other areas within the basement car park as required by AS2890.1 (2004).
- A clear head height of 2.5m is to be provided above all accessible parking spaces and shared areas, as required by AS2890.6 (2009).
- A minimum clear head height of 4.5 metres is to be provided within the loading area as required under AS2890.2 (2002). A vertical clearance test has been undertaken with the results in **Appendix F** demonstrating that this height is achieved for a template 12.5m Heavy Rigid Vehicle.

7.2.4 Loading

- The internal design of the service area has been undertaken in accordance with the requirements of AS28090.2 (2018) for the maximum length vehicle permissible on-site being a 10.24m waste collection vehicle.
- A minimum bay width of 3.5m is provided for all service bays.
- A turntable has been provided to ensure forward exit movements for bays located at each end. The turntable has been designed for vehicles up to the size of an 8.8m MRV and a swept path analysis has been undertaken for critical reverse movements in Appendix E.



7.2.5 Other Considerations

The 2.0m by 2.5m sight distance triangles illustrated in Figure 3.3 of AS2890.1 (2004) are strictly achieved for the proposed Ashley Lane accesses. Notwithstanding, it is acknowledged that pedestrians may walk inside the actual property due to a 3.0 metre building setback.

Accordingly, the walls within the building have been splayed to ensure the sight distance triangles are clear of obstructions to visibility at the car park access. This is also strictly achieved for one side of the loading dock access, whilst the other side has been splayed by 1.4m by 7.4m (to facilitate entry movements). It is anticipated that these provisions will allow exiting drivers to stop for pedestrians, achieving the intent of the standard.

7.3 Summary

In summary, the internal configuration of the car park has been designed in accordance with AS 2890.1 (2004) and AS 2890.6 (2009). It is however envisaged that a condition of consent would be imposed requiring compliance with these standards and as such any minor amendments considered necessary (if any) can be dealt with prior to the release of a Construction Certificate.

7.4 External Design Aspects

The Development Application will also propose changes to the public domain including:

- A relocated pedestrian crossing further west on Railway Parade to align with a pedestrian site link. This is consistent with the proposed measures outlined in the Transport for NSW letter in relation to the Paramatta Light Rail project.
- An on-street bus parking restriction on Railway Parade to replace an existing 11m "1/4 P 8:00am – 6:00pm, Mon-Fri" restriction. The bus parking restriction will serve demands for the proposed hotel.

A plan of the existing signage on Railway Parade is included in **Appendix G** for reference and the proposed changes to the public domain are illustrated in a plan in **Appendix H**. The proposal is considered supportable noting that the availability of parking available for town centre use will effectively increase with the provision of on-site basement parking.



8. CONCLUSIONS

The following is noteworthy:

- This Development Application seeks approval to construct a 14 storey mixed-use development at 24-26 Railway Parade in Westmead. It is to comprise of a 100 room hotel, commercial, supermarket, retail, tavern, food and beverage and medical centre uses.
- Ounder the Parramatta DCP and LEP, the proposed development is permitted to provide a maximum of 149 parking spaces based on the site specific controls applicable for 24-26 Railway Parade and the Paramatta LEP. In response, provision for 127 spaces has been made, thereby complying with Council and State planning controls.
- The proposed development has been assessed to generate a net increase of 150 vehicle trips per hour during the critical evening peak period which would comprise of customer trips. Additional software modelling has supplemented the analysis supporting the Planning Proposal, to which the increases in delays at intersections on Hawkesbury Road will be minimal with spare capacity.
- The design of the proposed development generally complies with AS2890.1 (2004), AS2890.2 (2018) and AS2890.6 (2009) with a swept path analysis demonstrating satisfactory operation of accesses and critical internal movements.

This traffic impact assessment therefore demonstrates that the subject application is supportable on traffic planning grounds. TRAFFIX anticipates an ongoing involvement during the development approval process.

APPENDIX A

Westmead and Parramatta Bicycle Routes



APPENDIX B

Parramatta Light Rail Project – Map and Traffic Changes Letter




18 July 2018

Anthony Blood Development Assessment Officer City of Parramatta PO Box 32 Parramatta NSW 2124

Dear Anthony,

RE: DA/381/2018 24-26 Railway Parade, Westmead. NSW 2145

Thank you for referring the above proposal to TfNSW (Parramatta Light Rail) for review and comment.

The EIS for the Parramatta Light Rail (Stage 1) was on exhibition during October 2017 and shows that the light rail route will connect Parramatta's CBD with the Westmead Health precinct, Parramatta North Urban Transformation Program, the new Western Sydney Stadium, three Western Sydney University campuses, the relocated Powerhouse Museum, Rosehill Racecourse, the Camellia Precinct and redevelopment at Telopea.

TfNSW plans to commence construction of the Parramatta Light Rail (PLR) by 2019 and for it to be operational in 2023.

During the construction and operation phases of the Parramatta Light Rail Project there will be intermittent, short and long term road closures, as well as material changes to road network operations. These changes may impact pedestrian, cyclist and vehicular access routes to the proposed development.

The traffic changes implemented by PLR in the precinct include:

- Signalisation of Caroline Street and Hawkesbury Road intersection
- Park Avenue converted to one-way southbound only between Hainsworth and Jessie Street
- Jessie Street one way westbound between Hawkesbury Road and Park Avenue (left out only at Hawkesbury Road)
- Queens Road one-way westbound between Hawkesbury Road and Ashley Lane
- Removal of right-turn vehicle access from Hawkesbury Road, northbound into Queens Road and Jessie Street.
- Light rail on Hawkesbury Road
- Heavy vehicle access for Parramatta Park via Park Parade will be restricted to:
 - Access into the park via Railway Parade, Park Parade and right turn into the park at the Queens Road gatehouse.
 - Access out of the park via the Queens Road gatehouse into Queens Road and left turn only onto Hawkesbury Road.
- Changes to parking availability on Railway Parade

Recommendations

• Existing pedestrian crossing on Railway Parade proposed to be relocated west to align with new Mid-block pedestrian link.

- Mid-block link provides good opportunity for alternative pedestrian movement between Railway Parade and Hawkesbury Road. This will reduce dependence on constrained footpath next to Light Rail Terminus.
- Public Domain upgrade to Railway Parade including new trees. This work needs to be coordinated with station TAP upgrade and PLR public domain works.
- DA proposed 100+ basement car spaces accessed via Ashley Lane. Increased vehicle movements will not assist in creating a more walkable pedestrian-friendly Precinct. PLR recommends the number of basement car spaces are significantly reduced.
- Potential construction staging conflicts between development and Light Rail main infrastructure works. Works need to be coordinated with PLR.
- High density mixed use development, including four storey podiums, is arguably not inconsistent with State Government planning principles around railway stations.
- Parramatta Light Rail advises that an analysis should be undertaken by the proponent to demonstrate vehicle movements can work within the context of road changes in the surrounding area. All construction activities including traffic management must be coordinated with Parramatta Light Rail.
- Suggest proponent to provide civil works plan showing road, driveway and kerb adjustments proposed as well as site plan showing the location of proposed external utility connections to allow TfNSW to provide comments on these interfaces.

Parramatta Light Rail advises that an analysis should be undertaken by the proponent to demonstrate vehicle movements can work within the context of road changes in the surrounding area. All construction activities including traffic management must be coordinated with Parramatta Light Rail.

Thank you for the opportunity to provide comment on this planning proposal. Please contact Gideon Chapman@transport.nsw.gov.au if you would like to discuss the comments raised.

Yours sincerely

I'm Bole

PP Andrew Quarmby TIM POOLE.

cc: Grant Knoetz, TfNSW

APPENDIX C

Reduced Architectural Plans





Notes

ALL EXISTING CONDITIONS TO BE CHECKED ON SITE. ALL DIMENSIONS AND SETOUTS TO BE VERIFIED PRIOR TO COMMENCEMENT ON SITE. ALL OMISSIONS OR DISCREPANCIES TO BE NOTIFIED TO THE ARCHITECT.

THE COPYRIGHT OF THIS DRAWING TOGETHER WITH ANY OTHER DOCUMENTS PREPARED BY SISSONS REMAINS THE PROPERTY OF SISSONS. SISSONS GRANTS LICENCE FOR THE USE OF THIS DOCUMENT FOR THE PURPOSE FOR WHICH IT IS INTENDED. THE LICENCE IS NOT TRANSFERABLE WITHOUT THE PERMISSION OF SISSONS.

Nominated Architect: Nick Sissons NSW ARB 7210

1. DESIGN RESOLUTION

1.1 The drawings show the general architectural intent for the purposes of this Development Application. 1.2 The internal layouts shown are indicative and subject to further detailed design

development. 1.3 Dimensions given are general and subject to detailed design resolution 1.4 Landscaping shown is indicative only and subject to further detailed design.

1.5 The location of plant, equipment and services as shown on drawings is indicative only and subject to further detailed design development. Minor elements eg flues, vent pipes, aerials etc have been omitted for clarity

2. GRAPHIC REPRESENTATION

2.1 Generic colours have been used on to indicate the design intent and are not accurate representations of the actual colours of the selected materials. 2.2 Colours on plans are used for diagrammatic purposes and do not reflect the colours of the selected materials

3. EXISTING STRUCTURES AND SERVICES

3.1 The extent and location of the existing services and structures shown on drawings is based on the survey information provided to date. Final locations are to be determined on

3.2 Existing levels shown on the drawings are based upon the existing survey information provided or extrapolated from existing spot levels provided. 3.3 All levels are relative to the Australian Height Datum (AHD)

LEGEND

Rev	Date	Revision Descriptio	n						
А	24.04.20	DA SUBMISSION							
Clie	ent								
DR	ILL P/	L							
Sca	le			North					
1	100 G	۸ 1							
1:		AI)				
(Ha	lf Scale (g 43)							
Pro	ject								
W	EST C	GROVE							
24-2	26 Railwa	ay Parade, Westmea	ad, NSW	2145.					
Arc	hitect								
sissons. a: Level 5, 53 Berry Street, North Sydney, NSW 2060. p: 02 8904 1853									
Dra PR DO	wing Titl OPOSI CK)	^e ED PLAN - LEV	EL B1	(LOADING					
Pro	ject No.	Drawing No.	Stage		Rev				
16-	-021	PL-10-04	PLAN	NING	A				

	Not						
	SETO OR D	UTS TO BE V ISCREPANCI	ES TO BE NOTIFIE	COMMEN D TO THE A	CEMENT ON SITE RCHITECT.	ALL OMISSIONS	5
	THE	COPYRIGHT	OF THIS DRAWING SSONS REMAINS T	TOGETHER HE PROPEI	WITH ANY OTHE RTY OF SISSONS.	R DOCUMENTS SISSONS GRANT	S
	LICEI INTE SISSO	NCE FOR TH NDED. THE I DNS.	E USE OF THIS DOO LICENCE IS NOT TR	CUMENT FO	DR THE PURPOSI BLE WITHOUT TH	E FOR WHICH IT I IE PERMISSION C	S IF
	Nor	minated	Architect: Ni	ck Sisso	ons NSW AF	RB 7210	
	1. DE 1.1 T Deve 1.2 T	he drawings lopment App he internal l	show the general a blication. ayouts shown are in	architectura ndicative ar	al intent for the p nd subject to furtl	urposes of this ner detailed desig	IN
	1.3 D 1.4 L 1.5 T and s aeria	Dimensions g andscaping s he location of subject to fur als etc have b	iven are general ar shown is indicative of plant, equipment ther detailed desig been omitted for cla	nd subject to only and su and service n developm arity	o detailed design ubject to further o es as shown on d nent. Minor elem	resolution letailed design. rawings is indicat ents eg flues, ven	ive only t pipes,
	2. GF 2.1 G repre 2.2 C of the	RAPHIC REP Generic colou esentations of Colours on pla e selected m	RESENTATION Irs have been used of the actual colour ans are used for dia laterials	on to indica s of the sel agrammatio	ate the design int ected materials. c purposes and d	ent and are not a o not reflect the c	ccurate colours
	3. EX 3.1 T base site.	ISTING STRU he extent an d on the surv	JCTURES AND SER d location of the ex vey information pro	VICES isting servi vided to da	ces and structure te. Final location	es shown on draw s are to be deterr	rings is nined on
	3.2 E provi 3.3 A	xisting level ided or extra Ill levels are	s shown on the drav polated from existi relative to the Aust	wings are b ng spot lev ralian Heig	ased upon the ex els provided. ht Datum (AHD)	isting survey info	rmation
	CAR F	PARK DIMEN	ISIONS (M)	5			
	TYPIC TYPIC	AL PARKING AL AISLE WI	BAY DTH	2.6 X 5.4 6.6			
	SMAL	L CAR PARK	BAY	2.3 X 5.0 5 8			
	BICYC		6 BAY	0.5 X 1.8			
	MOTO			1.2 X 2.5			
		SUPERN	LIND MARKET	MIN.	CAR PARK SPAC	CE 2.6 X 5.4	
		RETAIL		MIN. MIN	AISLE WIDTH	6.6M	
		TUEDU		MIN.	AISLE WIDTH	6.6M	
		TAVERN		MIN. MIN.	CAR PARK SPAC AISLE WIDTH	CE 2.6 X 5.4 6.6M	
		F & B		MIN. MIN.	CAR PARK SPAC AISLE WIDTH	CE 2.6 X 5.4 6.6M	
PL-20-08		MEDICA	L CENTRE	MIN. MIN.	CAR PARK SPAC	CE 2.6 X 5.4 5.8M	
2		СОММЕ	RCIAL	MIN.		CE 2.4 X 5.4	
PL-20-08		SHARED) HOTEL	MIN.	CAR PARK SPAC	6.2M CE 2.6 X 5.4	
\checkmark		/COMME HOTEL	ERCIAL ACCESSIBL	.E MIN. MIN.	AISLE WIDTH	6.6M CE 2.5 X 5.4	
1 - PL - 20 - 02				MIN.	AISLE WIDTH	5.8M	
T PL-20-03		ACCESS	IBLE	MIN. MIN.	AISLE WIDTH	6.6M	
		BICYCLE	Ē	MIN. MIN.	PARK SPACE AISLE WIDTH	0.5 X 1.8 1.5M	
	DADKI		CYCLE	MIN.	PARK SPACE	1.2 X 2.5	
	A 'TICK	ETLESS' PA	RKING SYSTEM IS I	PROPOSED			
	THIS W CENTR	ILL PROVIDE	E GREATER FLEXIB D STAFF MEMBERS	ILITY TO M 6, ETC) TO F	EDIUM TERM US PARK FOR LONG	ERS (MEDICAL ER DURATIONS (\	WITHOUT
	PAYME COMMI	NT) THROUG UTERS.	GH NUMBER PLATE	E RECOGNI	TION, WHILE DIS	COURAGING USE	BY
PL-30-02	REFER	TO TRAFFIC	ENGINEER'S STAT	EMENT FC	R DETAILS		
	Rev	Date	Revision De	scriptio	n		
	A	24.04.20	DA SUBMISSION				
	Clie	ent					
PL-30-03	DR	ILL P/	L				
•							
	Sca	le			N	orth	
	1	: 100 രെ	A1				
	(Ha	lf Scale	@ A3)				
						\bigcirc	
	Pro	ject					
	W	EST (ROVF				
	2/	26 Pailer	av Parada M	actman	d NCW 21	5	
	24		ayı araue, W	esunea	IN, IND VV Z 12	·J.	
	Arc	hitect					
	si	sson	IS.				
	a:L p:O	.evel 5, 5 2 8904 1	3 Berry Stree 853	et, Nort	h Sydney, N	SW 2060.	
	Dra	wing Titl					_
	PR			- LEV	EL B2 (B	ASEMEN	Г
	CA	K PAR	(NJ				
	Pro	ject No.	Drawing N	lo.	Stage		Rev
MISSION	16	-021	PL-10-0)3	PLANNI	NG	A
		_··					-

	Not		IDITIONS TO BE CH	ECKED O	N SITE ALL F			
	SETO OR D	UTS TO BE VE	RIFIED PRIOR TO (S TO BE NOTIFIED	COMMENC TO THE A	CEMENT ON S RCHITECT.	SITE. ALL (OMISSIONS	5
	THE C PREF LICEI INTEI SISSC	COPYRIGHT O PARED BY SISS NCE FOR THE NDED. THE LI DNS.	F THIS DRAWING T SONS REMAINS TH USE OF THIS DOCI CENCE IS NOT TRA	OGETHER E PROPER JMENT FO NSFERAE	R WITH ANY O RTY OF SISSO DR THE PURF BLE WITHOUT	THER DOC NS. SISSO OSE FOR ¹ THE PER	CUMENTS INS GRANT WHICH IT I MISSION C	TS S DF
	Nor	ninated A	rchitect: Nic	k Sisso	ons NSW	ARB 72	210	
	1. DE	SIGN RESOLU	JTION how the general ar	chitectura	al intent for th	ne purpose	es of this	
	Deve	lopment Appli he internal lay lopment.	ication. youts shown are ind	licative ar	nd subject to f	urther det	ailed desig	jn
	1.3 D 1.4 L 1.5 T and s aeria	andscaping sh he location of subject to furth ils etc have be	en are general and nown is indicative o plant, equipment a her detailed design en omitted for clar	subject to nly and su nd service developm ity	o detailed des ibject to furth es as shown c nent. Minor el	er detaileo on drawing ements eg	d design. Is is indicat g flues, ver	tive only ht pipes,
	2. GF 2.1 G repre 2.2 C of the	APHIC REPRI eneric colour: esentations of olours on plan e selected ma	ESENTATION s have been used o the actual colours ns are used for diag terials	n to indica of the sel grammatio	ate the design ected materia c purposes ar	intent and als. ad do not r	d are not a eflect the c	ccurate colours
	3. EX 3.1 T base	ISTING STRU he extent and d on the surve	CTURES AND SERV location of the exis	ICES iting servi ded to da	ces and struc te. Final locat	tures shov	wn on draw o be deterr	vings is nined on
	site. 3.2 E provi 3.3 A	xisting levels ded or extrap ll levels are re	shown on the draw olated from existin elative to the Austr	ings are b g spot leve alian Heig	ased upon th els provided. ht Datum (AF	e existing ID)	survey info	ormation
	CAR F	PARK DIMENS	SIONS (M)					
	TYPIC TYPIC	AL PARKING I AL AISLE WID	BAY TH	2.6 X 5.4 6.6				
	SMAL SMAL	L CAR PARK E L CAR AISLE \	3AY WIDTH	2.3 X 5.0 5.8				
	ВІСҮС МОТО	LE PARKING RCYCLE PARI	BAY KING BAY	0.5 X 1.8 1.2 X 2.5				
	PAR	KING LEGE	ND					
		SUPERM	ARKET	MIN. MIN.	. CAR PARK S . AISLE WIDTI	PACE H	2.6 X 5.4 6.6M	
		RETAIL		MIN. MIN.	. CAR PARK S . AISLE WIDTI	PACE H	2.6 X 5.4 6.6M	
		TAVERN		MIN. MIN.	. CAR PARK S . AISLE WIDTI	PACE H	2.6 X 5.4 6.6M	
		F & B		MIN. MIN.	. CAR PARK S . AISLE WIDTI	PACE H	2.6 X 5.4 6.6M	
PL-20-08		MEDICAL	CENTRE	MIN. MIN.	. CAR PARK S . AISLE WIDTI	PACE H	2.6 X 5.4 5.8M	
2		COMMER	CIAL	MIN. MIN.	. CAR PARK S . AISLE WIDTI	PACE H	2.4 X 5.4 6.2M	
PL-20-08		SHARED /COMMEF	HOTEL RCIAL ACCESSIBLE	MIN. MIN.	. CAR PARK S . AISLE WIDTI	PACE H	2.6 X 5.4 6.6M	
•		HOTEL		MIN. MIN.	. CAR PARK S . AISLE WIDTI	PACE H	2.5 X 5.4 5.8M	
		HOTEL OV ACCESSIE	VERFLOW BLE	MIN. MIN.	. CAR PARK S . AISLE WIDTI	PACE H	2.6 X 5.4 6.6M	
		BICYCLE		MIN. MIN.	. PARK SPACI . AISLE WIDTI	E H	0.5 X 1.8 1.5M	3
1 PL-30-02	A 'TICK THIS W CENTR PAYME COMMI REFER REFER	ETLESS' PAR VILL PROVIDE E/APPROVED NT) THROUGH JTERS. TO TRAFFIC I Date	KING SYSTEM IS P GREATER FLEXIBI STAFF MEMBERS, I NUMBER PLATE ENGINEER'S STATE Revision Des	ROPOSED LITY TO M ETC) TO I RECOGNI EMENT FC CRENT FC	EDIUM TERM PARK FOR LO TION, WHILE DR DETAILS N	USERS (N NGER DUI DISCOURA	MEDICAL RATIONS (' AGING USE	WITHOUT BY
	A	24.04.20	A SUBMISSION					
	Clie	ent						
PL-30-03	DR	ILL P/L	-					
	Sca	ام				North		
		: 100 @/	Δ1					
	(Ha	lf Scale ແ	i A3)					
	Pro	ject			I			
	W	EST G	ROVE					
	24-2	26 Railwa	y Parade, We	estmea	id, NSW 2	2145.		
	Arc	hitect						
	Sİ a: L	SSON	S. Berry Stree	t, Nort	h Sydney	, NSW :	2060.	
	p:0	∠ 8904 18 	ეკ					
	Dra PR CA	wing Title OPOSE R PARI) D PLAN - K)	LEV	EL B3 (BASE	EMEN	Т
	Pro	iect No	Drawing N	<u></u>	Stage			Rev
IISSION		-021	PL-10-0	2	PLAN	NING		A

Notes

8

ALL EXISTING CONDITIONS TO BE CHECKED ON SITE. ALL DIMENSIONS AND SETOUTS TO BE VERIFIED PRIOR TO COMMENCEMENT ON SITE. ALL OMISSIONS OR DISCREPANCIES TO BE NOTIFIED TO THE ARCHITECT.

THE COPYRIGHT OF THIS DRAWING TOGETHER WITH ANY OTHER DOCUMENTS PREPARED BY SISSONS REMAINS THE PROPERTY OF SISSONS. SISSONS GRANTS LICENCE FOR THE USE OF THIS DOCUMENT FOR THE PURPOSE FOR WHICH IT IS INTENDED. THE LICENCE IS NOT TRANSFERABLE WITHOUT THE PERMISSION OF SISSONS.

Nominated Architect: Nick Sissons NSW ARB 7210

1. DESIGN RESOLUTION

1.1 The drawings show the general architectural intent for the purposes of this Development Application. 1.2 The internal layouts shown are indicative and subject to further detailed design

development.

1.3 Dimensions given are general and subject to detailed design resolution1.4 Landscaping shown is indicative only and subject to further detailed design. 1.5 The location of plant, equipment and services as shown on drawings is indicative only and subject to further detailed design development. Minor elements eg flues, vent pipes, aerials etc have been omitted for clarity

2. GRAPHIC REPRESENTATION

2.1 Generic colours have been used on to indicate the design intent and are not accurate representations of the actual colours of the selected materials. 2.2 Colours on plans are used for diagrammatic purposes and do not reflect the colours of the selected materials

3. EXISTING STRUCTURES AND SERVICES

3.1 The extent and location of the existing services and structures shown on drawings is based on the survey information provided to date. Final locations are to be determined on

3.2 Existing levels shown on the drawings are based upon the existing survey information provided or extrapolated from existing spot levels provided. 3.3 All levels are relative to the Australian Height Datum (AHD)

CAR PAR	RK DIMENSIONS (M)		
TYPICAL TYPICAL	PARKING BAY AISLE WIDTH	2.6 X 5.4 6.6	
SMALL C SMALL C	AR PARK BAY AR AISLE WIDTH	2.3 X 5.0 5.8	
BICYCLE MOTORC	PARKING BAY YCLE PARKING BAY	0.5 X 1.8 1.2 X 2.5	
PARKI	NG LEGEND		
	SUPERMARKET	MIN. CAR PARK SPACE MIN. AISLE WIDTH	2.6 X 5.4 6.6M
	RETAIL	MIN. CAR PARK SPACE MIN. AISLE WIDTH	2.6 X 5.4 6.6M
	TAVERN	MIN. CAR PARK SPACE MIN. AISLE WIDTH	2.6 X 5.4 6.6M
	F & B	MIN. CAR PARK SPACE MIN. AISLE WIDTH	2.6 X 5.4 6.6M
	MEDICAL CENTRE	MIN. CAR PARK SPACE MIN. AISLE WIDTH	2.6 X 5.4 5.8M
	COMMERCIAL	MIN. CAR PARK SPACE MIN. AISLE WIDTH	2.4 X 5.4 6.2M
	SHARED HOTEL /COMMERCIAL ACCESSIBLE	MIN. CAR PARK SPACE MIN. AISLE WIDTH	2.6 X 5.4 6.6M
	HOTEL	MIN. CAR PARK SPACE MIN. AISLE WIDTH	2.5 X 5.4 5.8M
	HOTEL OVERFLOW ACCESSIBLE	MIN. CAR PARK SPACE MIN. AISLE WIDTH	2.6 X 5.4 6.6M
	BICYCLE	MIN. PARK SPACE MIN. AISLE WIDTH	0.5 X 1.8 1.5M

	SUPERMARKET	MIN. CAR PARK SPACE MIN. AISLE WIDTH	2.6 X 5.4 6.6M
	RETAIL	MIN. CAR PARK SPACE MIN. AISLE WIDTH	2.6 X 5.4 6.6M
	TAVERN	MIN. CAR PARK SPACE MIN. AISLE WIDTH	2.6 X 5.4 6.6M
	F & B	MIN. CAR PARK SPACE MIN. AISLE WIDTH	2.6 X 5.4 6.6M
	MEDICAL CENTRE	MIN. CAR PARK SPACE MIN. AISLE WIDTH	2.6 X 5.4 5.8M
	COMMERCIAL	MIN. CAR PARK SPACE MIN. AISLE WIDTH	2.4 X 5.4 6.2M
	SHARED HOTEL /COMMERCIAL ACCESSIBLE	MIN. CAR PARK SPACE MIN. AISLE WIDTH	2.6 X 5.4 6.6M
	HOTEL	MIN. CAR PARK SPACE MIN. AISLE WIDTH	2.5 X 5.4 5.8M
	HOTEL OVERFLOW ACCESSIBLE	MIN. CAR PARK SPACE MIN. AISLE WIDTH	2.6 X 5.4 6.6M
	BICYCLE	MIN. PARK SPACE	0.5 X 1.8

MOTORCYCLE PARKING MANAGEMENT STRATEGY

A 'TICKETLESS' PARKING SYSTEM IS PROPOSED .

THIS WILL PROVIDE GREATER FLEXIBILITY TO MEDIUM TERM USERS (MEDICAL [CENTRE/APPROVED STAFF MEMBERS, ETC] TO PARK FOR LONGER DURATIONS (WITHOUT PAYMENT) THROUGH NUMBER PLATE RECOGNITION, WHILE DISCOURAGING USE BY COMMUTERS.

MIN. PARK SPACE

1.2 X 2.5

PL-20-08/

L-20-08

PL-30-02

PL-30-03

REFER	EFER TO TRAFFIC ENGINEER'S STATEMENT FOR DETAILS								
Rev	Date	Revision Description							
А	24.04.20	DA SUBMISSION							
Clie	Client								

DRILL P/L

Scale	North
1 : 100 @A1	
(Half Scale @ A3)	
Project	
24-26 Railway Parade, Westmead, NSW	2145.
Architect	
sissons.	
a: Level 5, 53 Berry Street, North Sydne	y, NSW 2060.
p: 02 8904 1853	
Drawing Title	
PROPOSED PLAN - LEVEL B4	(BASEMENT
CAR PARK)	

SU	BI	MI	SS	10	N

Stage Project No. | Drawing No. Rev PLANNING 16-021 PL-10-01 Α

	Not ALL E SETO OR D THE C PREF LICEI INTE SISSO	ES EXISTING CO UTS TO BE V ISCREPANCI COPYRIGHT PARED BY SIS NCE FOR TH NDED. THE L DNS.	NDITIONS TO BE CHECKED /ERIFIED PRIOR TO COMME ES TO BE NOTIFIED TO THE DF THIS DRAWING TOGETHE SSONS REMAINS THE PROP E USE OF THIS DOCUMENT .ICENCE IS NOT TRANSFER.	ON SITE. ALL NCEMENT ON ARCHITECT. ER WITH ANY ERTY OF SISS FOR THE PUF ABLE WITHOU	. DIMENSIONS AND I SITE. ALL OMISSION OTHER DOCUMENTS GONS. SISSONS GRAN RPOSE FOR WHICH IT JT THE PERMISSION (S TS IS DF
PER GROUND	Nor	ninated .	Architect: Nick Siss	sons NSV	/ ARB 7210	
WER GROUND 31.300 ADING DOCK 28.665 BASEMENT 28.100						
PER GROUND 34.500						
WER GROUND . 31.300						
ADING DOCK 28.665 BASEMENT 28.100 BASEMENT 25.100						
BASEMENT						
BASEMENT						
LOW GROUND . 16.400	Rev A	Date 24.04.20	Revision Descripti	on		
	Clie DR	ent ILL P/	L			
LOWER GROUND	Sca As (Ha	le indica lf Scale (ted (dA1 a A3)		North)
 LOADING DOCK FFL 28.665 B1 BASEMENT FFL 28.100 B2 BASEMENT FFL 25.100 	Pro 24-2	ject EST (26 Railwa	BROVE ay Parade, Westme	ead, NSW	2145.	
	Arc Si a: L p: 0	nitect SSO11 evel 5, 5 2 8904 1	IS. 3 Berry Street, Nor 853	th Sydne	y, NSW 2060.	
	Dra VE	wing Titl HICLE	e ENTRY AND F	AMP A	NALYSIS	
SUBMISSION	Pro 16	ject No. -021	Drawing No. PL-85-01	Stage		Rev A

APPENDIX D

Traffic Surveys

Date: 5 October 2018 Ref: 18120

Kedar Ballurkar TRAFFIX

By email: Kedar.Ballurkar@traffix.com.au

Dear Kedar,

Re: Intersection Movement Survey WESTMEAD

As instructed by your offices we have now completed the required surveys according to our agreed scope of works at the following location(s):

- ✤ WESTMEAD
 - 1. Signalized Cross Intersection of Hawkesbury Road and Alexandra Avenue
 - 2. Signalized T-intersection of Hawkesbury Road and Railway Parade
 - 3. T-intersection of Queens Road and Hawkesbury Road

I attach herewith our surveys output (both in PDF and XLS formats) for your perusal. I trust that this submission is suitable to your requirements and look forward to the opportunity of assisting you in your future projects. Should you require further clarification of the results please do not hesitate to contact myself at 0430 160 889.

Thank you.

Yours sincerely,

Nicholas Lo

Nicholas Lo **LiS**

A division of the Raptor Mobilities Pty Ltd

Traffic Information Specialists

ABN: 42 613 389 923 Email info@trafficinfospecialist.com.au

AI	Vel	hicles						NO	RTH					EAST												
Time	Per	15 Min	s					Hawkesl	bury Ro	ad					Alexandra Avenue											
					L			Ī			<u>R</u>				L			I			<u>R</u>			TO	FAL	τοται
			L	IGHT	HEAVY	Σ	LIGHT	HEAVY	Σ	LIGHT	HEAVY	Σ	TOTAL	LIGHT	HEAVY	Σ	LIGHT	HEAVY	Σ	LIGHT	HEAVY	Σ	TOTAL	LIGHT	HEAVY	TOTAL
6:00	-	6:1	5	23	8	31	49	1	50	12	0	12	93	4	0	4	20	0	20	29	5	34	58	323	18	341
6:15	-	6:3	0	34	11	45	78	0	78	9	0	9	132	9	0	9	21	1	22	29	9	38	69	455	25	480
6:30	-	6:4	5	43	10	53	83	2	85	7	0	7	145	8	0	8	19	0	19	43	5	48	75	498	20	518
6:45	-	7:0	0	37	11	48	79	7	86	21	0	21	155	15	0	15	27	0	27	72	7	79	121	538	29	567
7:00	-	7:1	5	62	8	70	107	4	111	9	0	9	190	12	0	12	18	1	19	48	6	54	85	561	23	584
7:15	-	7:3	0	62	9	71	90	1	91	11	0	11	173	4	0	4	30	0	30	62	11	73	107	549	27	576
7:30	-	7:4	5	46	8	54	100	4	104	28	0	28	186	8	0	8	40	0	40	35	7	42	90	496	26	522
7:45	-	8:0	0	49	5	54	98	6	104	20	1	21	179	1	0	1	23	0	23	50	7	57	81	512	25	537
Pe	erioc	d End		356	70	426	684	25	709	117	1	118	1253	61	0	61	198	2	200	368	57	425	686	3932	193	4125
15:00	-	15:	15	39	8	47	170	3	173	12	0	12	232	9	0	9	63	1	64	46	6	52	125	462	19	481
15:15	-	15:	30	56	6	62	167	1	168	13	0	13	243	10	0	10	65	0	65	46	7	53	128	490	15	505
15:30	-	15:	45	58	8	66	177	0	177	26	0	26	269	8	0	8	47	0	47	42	7	49	104	510	15	525
15:45	-	16:	00	47	7	54	177	0	177	18	0	18	249	5	1	6	74	0	74	52	9	61	141	523	19	542
16:00	-	16:	15	48	7	55	170	1	171	23	0	23	249	8	1	9	66	0	66	49	9	58	133	510	18	528
16:15	-	16:	30	68	9	77	145	0	145	17	0	17	239	12	0	12	65	0	65	57	11	68	145	534	20	554
16:30	-	16:	45	58	9	67	164	0	164	20	0	20	251	12	1	13	64	0	64	49	11	60	137	543	22	565
16:45	-	17:	00	53	6	59	161	2	163	17	1	18	240	7	0	7	67	1	68	46	8	54	129	520	18	538
Pe	erioc	d End		427	60	487	1331	7	1338	146	1	147	1972	71	3	74	511	2	513	387	68	455	1042	2630	97	4238

All	Vehi	cles					SO	UTH					WEST												
Time	Per 1	5 Mins				1	Hawkesl	bury Ro	ad							Α	lexandra	Aven	ue						
				L			<u>T</u>			R				L			Ī			<u>R</u>			<u>T0</u>	TAL	τοτλι
			LIGHT	HEAVY	Σ	LIGHT	HEAVY	Σ	LIGHT	HEAVY	Σ	TOTAL	LIGHT	HEAVY	Σ	LIGHT	HEAVY	Σ	LIGHT	HEAVY	Σ	TOTAL	LIGHT	HEAVY	TOTAL
6:00	-	6:15	4	0	4	110	3	113	1	0	1	118	9	1	10	62	0	62				72	323	18	341
6:15	-	6:30	3	0	3	174	2	176	0	0	0	179	27	0	27	71	2	73				100	455	25	480
6:30	-	6:45	6	0	6	192	3	195	0	0	0	201	27	0	27	70	0	70				97	498	20	518
6:45	-	7:00	4	0	4	183	4	187	0	0	0	191	28	0	28	72	0	72				100	538	29	567
7:00	-	7:15	5	0	5	213	3	216	0	0	0	221	16	0	16	71	1	72				88	561	23	584
7:15	-	7:30	5	0	5	197	6	203	1	0	1	209	18	0	18	69	0	69				87	549	27	576
7:30	-	7:45	4	0	4	144	7	151	0	0	0	155	9	0	9	82	0	82				91	496	26	522
7:45	-	8:00	6	0	6	176	5	181	0	0	0	187	20	0	20	69	1	70				90	512	25	537
Pe	riod	End	37	0	37	1389	33	1422	2	0	2	1461	154	1	155	566	4	570				725	3932	193	4125
15:00	-	15:15	7	0	7	74	1	75	0	0	0	82	7	0	7	35	0	35				42	462	19	481
15:15	-	15:30	8	0	8	82	0	82	0	0	0	90	11	0	11	32	1	33				44	490	15	505
15:30	-	15:45	13	0	13	76	0	76	0	0	0	89	16	0	16	47	0	47				63	510	15	525
15:45	-	16:00	14	0	14	78	1	79	0	0	0	93	9	0	9	49	1	50				59	523	19	542
16:00	-	16:15	5	0	5	70	0	70	0	0	0	75	23	0	23	48	0	48				71	510	18	528
16:15	-	16:30	9	0	9	98	0	98	0	0	0	107	12	0	12	51	0	51				63	534	20	554
16:30	-	16:45	8	0	8	101	1	102	0	0	0	110	18	0	18	49	0	49				67	543	22	565
16:45	-	17:00	10	0	10	86	0	86	0	0	0	96	19	0	19	54	0	54				73	520	18	538
Pe	riod I	End	74	0	74	665	3	668	0	0	0	742	115	0	115	365	2	367				482	2630	97	4238

Location	Hawkesbury Road
	Alexandra Avenue
	Hawkesbury Road

Suburb

1600 - 1800

-

-

Hawkesbury Road
Alexandra Avenue
WESTMEAD

Day/Date Thursday, September 27, 2018

Duration

Weather

A	l Veh	nicles	5					NO	RTH									EA	ST					Ī		
Tim	ne Pe	r Ho	ur				1	Hawkesb	oury Ro	ad							A	lexandra	a Aven	ue						
					Ľ			I			<u>R</u>				Ŀ			Ī			R			TO	TAL	TOTAL
				LIGHT	HEAVY	Σ	LIGHT	HEAVY	Σ	LIGHT	HEAVY	Σ	TOTAL	LIGHT	HEAVY	Σ	LIGHT	HEAVY	Σ	LIGHT	HEAVY	Σ	TOTAL	LIGHT	HEAVY	TOTAL
6:00	-	7	:00	137	40	177	289	10	299	49	0	49	525	36	0	36	87	1	88	173	26	199	323	1814	92	1906
6:15	-	7	:15	176	40	216	347	13	360	46	0	46	622	44	0	44	85	2	87	192	27	219	350	2052	97	2149
6:30	-	7	:30	204	38	242	359	14	373	48	0	48	663	39	0	39	94	1	95	225	29	254	388	2146	99	2245
6:45	-	7	:45	207	36	243	376	16	392	69	0	69	704	39	0	39	115	1	116	217	31	248	403	2144	105	2249
7:00	-	8	:00	219	30	249	395	15	410	68	1	69	728	25	0	25	111	1	112	195	31	226	363	2118	101	2219
P	eriod	l End		943	184	1127	1766	68	1834	280	1	281	3242	183	0	183	492	6	498	1002	144	1146	1827	10274	494	10768
15:00	-	1	6:00	200	29	229	691	4	695	69	0	69	993	32	1	33	249	1	250	186	29	215	498	1985	68	2053
15:15	-	1	6:15	209	28	237	691	2	693	80	0	80	1010	31	2	33	252	0	252	189	32	221	506	2033	67	2100
15:30	-	1	6:30	221	31	252	669	1	670	84	0	84	1006	33	2	35	252	0	252	200	36	236	523	2077	72	2149
15:45	-	1	6:45	221	32	253	656	1	657	78	0	78	988	37	3	40	269	0	269	207	40	247	556	2110	79	2189
16:00	-	1	7:00	227	31	258	640	3	643	77	1	78	979	39	2	41	262	1	263	201	39	240	544	2107	78	2185
P	eriod	l End	1	1078	151	1229	3347	11	3358	388	1	389	4976	172	10	182	1284	2	1286	983	176	1159	2627	10312	364	10676

AI	Vehi	cles					SO	UTH									WE	ST							
Tim	e Per	Hour					Hawkesb	oury Ro	ad							A	lexandr	a Aven	ue						
				L			I			<u>R</u>				L			I			<u>R</u>			TO	ΓAL	TOTAL
			LIGHT	HEAVY	Σ	LIGHT	HEAVY	Σ	LIGHT	HEAVY	Σ	TOTAL	LIGHT	HEAVY	Σ	LIGHT	HEAVY	Σ	LIGHT	HEAVY	Σ	TOTAL	LIGHT	HEAVY	TOTAL
6:00	-	7:00	17	0	17	659	12	671	1	0	1	689	91	1	92	275	2	277				369	1814	92	1906
6:15	-	7:15	18	0	18	762	12	774	0	0	0	792	98	0	98	284	3	287				385	2052	97	2149
6:30	-	7:30	20	0	20	785	16	801	1	0	1	822	89	0	89	282	1	283				372	2146	99	2245
6:45	-	7:45	18	0	18	737	20	757	1	0	1	776	71	0	71	294	1	295				366	2144	105	2249
7:00	-	8:00	20	0	20	730	21	751	1	0	1	772	63	0	63	291	2	293	.			356	2118	101	2219
Pe	eriod	End	93	0	93	3673	81	3754	4	0	4	3851	412	1	413	1426	9	1435				1848	10274	494	10768
15:00	-	16:00	42	0	42	310	2	312	0	0	0	354	43	0	43	163	2	165				208	1985	68	2053
15:15	-	16:15	40	0	40	306	1	307	0	0	0	347	59	0	59	176	2	178				237	2033	67	2100
15:30	-	16:30	41	0	41	322	1	323	0	0	0	364	60	0	60	195	1	196				256	2077	72	2149
15:45	-	16:45	36	0	36	347	2	349	0	0	0	385	62	0	62	197	1	198				260	2110	79	2189
16:00	-	17:00	32	0	32	355	1	356	0	0	0	388	72	0	72	202	0	202				274	2107	78	2185
Pe	eriod	End	191	0	191	1640	7	1647	0	0	0	1838	296	0	296	933	6	939				1235	10312	364	10676

AI	l Ve	hicl	es					NO	RTH								EAS	ST							
Time	Per	r 15	Mins				1	Hawkest	oury Roa	ad							Railway	Parad	е						
					L			Ι			<u>R</u>				L		Ī			<u>R</u>			<u>T0</u>	<u>FAL</u>	τοται
				LIGHT	HEAVY	Σ	LIGHT	HEAVY	Σ	LIGHT	HEAVY	Σ	TOTAL	LIGHT	HEAVY	Σ	LIGHT HEAVY	Σ	LIGHT	HEAVY	Σ	TOTAL	LIGHT	HEAVY	TOTAL
7:00		-	7:15	11	0	11	63	9	72				83	21	0	21			4	0	4	25	247	18	265
7:15		-	7:30	16	0	16	91	11	102				118	30	0	30			6	0	6	36	373	22	395
7:30		-	7:45	19	0	19	98	12	110				129	35	0	35			11	0	11	46	425	20	445
7:45		-	8:00	16	0	16	89	18	107				123	48	0	48			7	0	7	55	443	29	472
8:00		-	8:15	16	0	16	142	12	154				170	36	0	36			6	0	6	42	477	21	498
8:15		-	8:30	23	0	23	113	10	123				146	50	0	50			6	0	6	56	469	27	496
8:30		-	8:45	15	2	17	120	12	132				149	54	0	54			7	0	7	61	384	28	412
8:45		-	9:00	10	0	10	113	11	124				134	54	1	55			2	0	2	57	425	24	449
P	erio	d Er	nd	126	2	128	829	95	924				1052	328	1	329			49	0	49	378	3243	189	3432
16:00		-	16:15	12	0	12	165	11	176				188	56	0	56			7	0	7	63	367	18	385
16:15		-	16:30	26	0	26	186	7	193				219	50	0	50			8	0	8	58	409	14	423
16:30		-	16:45	15	0	15	189	8	197				212	72	0	72			4	0	4	76	414	15	429
16:45		-	17:00	8	0	8	184	7	191				199	58	0	58			6	0	6	64	395	17	412
17:00		-	17:15	5	0	5	165	8	173				178	76	0	76			10	0	10	86	398	17	415
17:15		-	17:30	20	0	20	182	9	191				211	48	0	48			8	0	8	56	425	20	445
17:30		-	17:45	14	0	14	184	9	193				207	58	0	58			6	0	6	64	430	21	451
17:45		-	18:00	15	0	15	180	9	189				204	51	0	51			10	0	10	61	407	17	424
P	erio	d Er	nd	115	0	115	1435	68	1503				1618	469	0	469			59	0	59	528	2055	92	3384

All Vehicles			SO	UTH							WES	ST						
Time Per 15 Mins			Hawkesb	oury Ro	ad						-							
	L		Ι			<u>R</u>			L		I		<u>R</u>			<u>T0</u>	TAL_	τοται
	LIGHT HEAVY Σ	LIGHT	HEAVY	Σ	LIGHT	HEAVY	Σ	TOTAL	LIGHT HEAVY	Σ	LIGHT HEAVY	Σ	LIGHT HEAVY	Σ	TOTAL	LIGHT	HEAVY	TOTAL
7:00 - 7:15		93	8	101	55	1	56	157								247	18	265
7:15 - 7:30		166	11	177	64	0	64	241								373	22	395
7:30 - 7:45		208	7	215	54	1	55	270								425	20	445
7:45 - 8:00		200	11	211	83	0	83	294								443	29	472
8:00 - 8:15		220	8	228	57	1	58	286								477	21	498
8:15 - 8:30		213	17	230	64	0	64	294								469	27	496
8:30 - 8:45		133	14	147	55	0	55	202								384	28	412
8:45 - 9:00		150	12	162	96	0	96	258								425	24	449
Period End		1383	88	1471	528	3	531	2002								3243	189	3432
16:00 - 16:15	5	91	7	98	36	0	36	134								367	18	385
16:15 - 16:30		106	7	113	33	0	33	146								409	14	423
16:30 - 16:45		98	7	105	36	0	36	141								414	15	429
16:45 - 17:00		98	10	108	41	0	41	149								395	17	412
17:00 - 17:15		87	9	96	55	0	55	151								398	17	415
17:15 - 17:30	j l	120	11	131	47	0	47	178								425	20	445
17:30 - 17:45	5	110	10	120	58	2	60	180								430	21	451
17:45 - 18:00	j l	107	8	115	44	0	44	159								407	17	424
Period End		817	69	886	350	2	352	1238								2055	92	3384

Location	Hawkesbury Road
	Railway Parade
	Hawkesbury Road
	-
Suburb	WESTMEAD

All	Veh	icles					NO	RTH							EAS	т							
Tim	e Per	Hour				I	lawkest	oury Ro	ad						Railway	Parad	е						
				Ŀ			Ι		<u>R</u>				L		I			<u>R</u>			<u>T0</u>	TAL	τοται
			LIGHT	HEAVY	Σ	LIGHT	HEAVY	Σ	LIGHT HEAVY	Σ	TOTAL	LIGHT	HEAVY	Σ	LIGHT HEAVY	Σ	LIGHT	HEAVY	Σ	TOTAL	LIGHT	HEAVY	TOTAL
7:00	-	8:00	62	0	62	341	50	391			453	134	0	134			28	0	28	162	1488	89	1577
7:15	-	8:15	67	0	67	420	53	473			540	149	0	149]		30	0	30	179	1718	92	1810
7:30	-	8:30	74	0	74	442	52	494			568	169	0	169			30	0	30	199	1814	97	1911
7:45	-	8:45	70	2	72	464	52	516			588	188	0	188]		26	0	26	214	1773	105	1878
8:00	-	9:00	64	2	66	488	45	533			599	194	1	195			21	0	21	216	1755	100	1855
Pe	riod	End	337	4	341	2155	252	2407			2748	834	1	835			135	0	135	970	8548	483	9031
16:00	-	17:00	61	0	61	724	33	757			818	236	0	236			25	0	25	261	1585	64	1649
16:15	-	17:15	54	0	54	724	30	754			808	256	0	256]		28	0	28	284	1616	63	1679
16:30	-	17:30	48	0	48	720	32	752			800	254	0	254]		28	0	28	282	1632	69	1701
16:45	-	17:45	47	0	47	715	33	748			795	240	0	240]		30	0	30	270	1648	75	1723
17:00	-	18:00	54	0	54	711	35	746			800	233	0	233			34	0	34	267	1660	75	1735
Pe	riod	End	264	0	264	3594	163	3757			4021	1219	0	1219			145	0	145	1364	8141	346	8487

Duration

Day/Date

Weather

0700 - 0900

1600 - 1800 -

Thursday, September 27, 2018

-

All Vehicles			SOUTH							WES	ST						
Time Per Hour		Hawl	kesbury Ro	ad						-							
	L	1	<u>[</u>		<u>R</u>			L		Ī		<u>R</u>			<u>T0</u>	TAL	τοται
	LIGHT HEAVY Σ	LIGHT HEA	Ανγ Σ	LIGHT	HEAVY	Σ	TOTAL	LIGHT HEAVY	Σ	LIGHT HEAVY	Σ	LIGHT HEAVY	Σ	TOTAL	LIGHT	HEAVY	IUIAL
7:00 - 8:00		667 3	7 704	256	2	258	962								1488	89	1577
7:15 - 8:15		794 3	7 831	258	2	260	1091								1718	92	1810
7:30 - 8:30		841 4	3 884	258	2	260	1144								1814	97	1911
7:45 - 8:45		766 5	0 816	259	1	260	1076								1773	105	1878
8:00 - 9:00		716 5	1 767	272	1	273	1040								1755	100	1855
Period End		3784 21	L8 4002	1303	8	1311	5313								8548	483	9031
16:00 - 17:00		393 3	1 424	146	0	146	570								1585	64	1649
16:15 - 17:15		389 3	3 422	165	0	165	587								1616	63	1679
16:30 - 17:30		403 3	7 440	179	0	179	619								1632	69	1701
16:45 - 17:45		415 4	0 455	201	2	203	658								1648	75	1723
17:00 - 18:00		424 3	8 462	204	2	206	668								1660	75	1735
Period End		2024 17	79 2203	895	4	899	3102								8141	346	8487

AI	Veh	icles					NO	RTH								EAS	ST						
Time	Per	15 Mins				1	Hawkest	oury Ro	ad							Queens	Road	1					
				L			Ι			<u>R</u>				L		I		<u>R</u>	<u>1</u>		<u>T0</u>	<u>ral</u>	τοται
			LIGHT	HEAVY	Σ	LIGHT	HEAVY	Σ	LIGHT	HEAVY	Σ	TOTAL	LIGHT	HEAVY	Σ	LIGHT HEAVY	Σ	LIGHT HEA	νγ Σ	TOTAL	LIGHT	HEAVY	IOIAL
7:00	-	7:15	2	0	2	37	3	40				42	20	0	20					20	140	7	147
7:15	-	7:30	1	0	1	53	2	55				56	25	0	25					25	176	6	182
7:30	-	7:45	3	0	3	55	5	60				63	33	0	33					33	209	8	217
7:45	-	8:00	2	0	2	70	2	72				74	38	2	40					40	230	6	236
8:00	-	8:15	2	0	2	54	3	57				59	35	0	35					35	202	5	207
8:15	-	8:30	2	0	2	58	2	60				62	31	1	32					32	217	5	222
8:30	-	8:45	7	0	7	59	5	64				71	33	1	34					34	212	10	222
8:45	-	9:00	5	1	6	35	1	36				42	37	0	37					37	199	4	203
Pe	eriod	End	24	1	25	421	23	444				469	252	4	256					256	1585	51	1636
16:00	-	16:15	4	0	4	109	4	113				117	42	0	42					42	234	6	240
16:15	-	16:30	4	0	4	119	2	121				125	44	1	45					45	256	5	261
16:30	-	16:45	2	0	2	101	2	103				105	54	0	54					54	231	6	237
16:45	-	17:00	3	0	3	112	3	115				118	37	0	37					37	205	6	211
17:00	-	17:15	2	0	2	108	1	109				111	39	0	39					39	222	2	224
17:15	-	17:30	2	0	2	101	2	103				105	41	0	41					41	239	4	243
17:30	-	17:45	2	0	2	91	2	93				95	37	0	37					37	212	4	216
17:45	-	18:00	3	0	3	87	3	90				93	31	2	33					33	208	6	214
Pe	eriod	End	22	0	22	828	19	847				869	325	3	328					328	1086	22	1846

All Vel	hicles				SO	UTH							WE	ST						
Time Per	15 Mins			1	Hawkesb	bury Ro	ad						-							
		L			I			<u>R</u>			L		I		<u>R</u>			<u>T0</u>	TAL	τοται
		LIGHT HEAVY	Σ	LIGHT	HEAVY	Σ	LIGHT	HEAVY	Σ	TOTAL	LIGHT HEAVY	Σ	LIGHT HEAVY	Σ	LIGHT HEAVY	Σ	TOTAL	LIGHT	HEAVY	IOIAL
7:00 -	7:15			71	3	74	10	1	11	85								140	7	147
7:15 -	7:30			84	4	88	13	0	13	101								176	6	182
7:30 -	7:45			102	3	105	16	0	16	121								209	8	217
7:45 -	8:00			108	1	109	12	1	13	122								230	6	236
8:00 -	8:15			101	2	103	10	0	10	113								202	5	207
8:15 -	8:30			113	2	115	13	0	13	128								217	5	222
8:30 -	8:45			99	3	102	14	1	15	117								212	10	222
8:45 -	9:00			96	1	97	26	1	27	124								199	4	203
Period	d End			774	19	793	114	4	118	911								1585	51	1636
16:00 -	16:15			64	2	66	15	0	15	81								234	6	240
16:15 -	16:30			77	2	79	12	0	12	91								256	5	261
16:30 -	16:45			56	2	58	18	2	20	78								231	6	237
16:45 -	17:00			48	2	50	5	1	6	56								205	6	211
17:00 -	17:15			59	1	60	14	0	14	74								222	2	224
17:15 -	17:30			78	2	80	17	0	17	97								239	4	243
17:30 -	17:45			66	2	68	16	0	16	84								212	4	216
17:45 -	18:00			69	1	70	18	0	18	88								208	6	214
Period	d End			517	14	531	115	3	118	649								1086	22	1846

Location	Hawkesbury Road
	Queens Road
	Hawkesbury Road
Suburb	WESTMEAD

Al	Vehi	icles					NO	RTH								EAS	ST						
Tim	e Per	r Hour				I	Hawkesb	ury Ro	ad							Queens	Road	1					
				L			I			<u>R</u>				L		I		<u>R</u>			TO	TAL	TOTAL
			LIGHT	HEAVY	Σ	LIGHT	HEAVY	Σ	LIGHT	HEAVY	Σ	TOTAL	LIGHT	HEAVY	Σ	LIGHT HEAVY	Σ	LIGHT HEAVY	Σ	TOTAL	LIGHT	HEAVY	TOTAL
7:00	-	8:00	8	0	8	215	12	227				235	116	2	118					118	755	27	782
7:15	-	8:15	8	0	8	232	12	244				252	131	2	133					133	817	25	842
7:30	-	8:30	9	0	9	237	12	249				258	137	3	140					140	858	24	882
7:45	-	8:45	13	0	13	241	12	253				266	137	4	141					141	861	26	887
8:00	-	9:00	16	1	17	206	11	217				234	136	2	138					138	830	24	854
Pe	eriod	End	54	1	55	1131	59	1190				1245	657	13	670					670	4121	126	4247
16:00	-	17:00	13	0	13	441	11	452				465	177	1	178					178	926	23	949
16:15	-	17:15	11	0	11	440	8	448				459	174	1	175					175	914	19	933
16:30	-	17:30	9	0	9	422	8	430				439	171	0	171					171	897	18	915
16:45	-	17:45	9	0	9	412	8	420				429	154	0	154					154	878	16	894
17:00	-	18:00	9	0	9	387	8	395				404	148	2	150					150	881	16	897
Pe	eriod	End	51	0	51	2102	43	2145				2196	824	4	828					828	4496	92	4588

Duration

Day/Date

Weather

0700 - 0900

1600 - 1800 -

Thursday, September 27, 2018

-

All Vehicles			SO	UTH							WES	ът							
Time Per Hour		ŀ	Hawkesb	oury Roa	ad						-								
	L	I			<u>R</u>			L		I			<u>R</u>			<u>T0</u>	<u>TAL</u>	τοται	
	LIGHT HEAVY Σ	LIGHT	HEAVY	Σ	LIGHT	HEAVY	Σ	TOTAL	LIGHT HEAVY	Σ	LIGHT HEAVY	Σ	LIGHT	HEAVY	Σ	TOTAL	LIGHT	HEAVY	TOTAL
7:00 - 8:00		365	11	376	51	2	53	429									755	27	782
7:15 - 8:15		395	10	405	51	1	52	457									817	25	842
7:30 - 8:30		424	8	432	51	1	52	484									858	24	882
7:45 - 8:45		421	8	429	49	2	51	480									861	26	887
8:00 - 9:00		409	8	417	63	2	65	482									830	24	854
Period End		2014	45	2059	265	8	273	2332									4121	126	4247
16:00 - 17:00		245	8	253	50	3	53	306									926	23	949
16:15 - 17:15		240	7	247	49	3	52	299									914	19	933
16:30 - 17:30		241	7	248	54	3	57	305									897	18	915
16:45 - 17:45		251	7	258	52	1	53	311									878	16	894
17:00 - 18:00		272	6	278	65	0	65	343									881	16	897
Period End		1249	35	1284	270	10	280	1564									4496	92	4588

APPENDIX E

Swept Path Analysis

This drawing is prepared for information purposes only. It is not to be used for construction.

TRAFFIX is responsible for vehicle swept path diagrams and/or drawing mark-ups only. Base drawing prepared by others.

Vehicle swept path diagrams prepared using computer generated turning path software and associated CAD drawing platforms. Vehicle data based upon relevant Australian Standards (AS/NZS 2890.1-2004 Parking facilities - Off-street car parking, and/or AS 2890.2-2002 Parking facilities - Off-street commercial vehicle facilities). These standards embody a degree of tolerance, however the vehicle characteristics in these standards represent a suitable design vehicle and do not account for all variations in vehicle dimensions / specifications and/or driver ability or behaviour.

LEG	no. revision note		by. date
	Swept Path Legend:		
	Wheel Path		
	thiodi i dai		
	Vehicle Body	/ Envelope	
	Clearance E	nvelope (300mm)	
	architect		
	Sissons Architects		
	-1:+		
	!-		
	scale		
	1:250 @ A3		
	0m 2 4	6 8	
	project		
	24-26 Railway Pa	rade, Westme	ad
	drawing prepared by		
	TRAFFIX		
	traffic and transport plan	ners	\frown
	Suite 2.08, 50 Holt Street	1	
B. 1	Surry Hills NSW 2010	(
154	Strawberry Hills NSW 20	12	
jî.	t: +61 2 8324 8700		\smile
100	e: info@traffix.com.au		traffix
100		traffic	& transport planners
	drawing title	-:-	
	Swept Path Analy	SIS	
	Ashley Lane - Loa	Inction Value	lo
	10.2411 Waste CO		
	drawn: SW	checked: BL	date: 11 Dec 18
	10 110		TYOA
	16.443	-	X.U1 -
	project no.	drawing phase.	drawing no. rev

	Notes
	This drawing is prepared for information purposes only. It is not to be used for construction.
	TRAFFIX is responsible for vehicle swept path diagrams and/or drawing mark-ups only. Base drawing prepared by others.
PARK LEVE MOTOR B2 (B3 (B4)	Vehicle swept path diagrams prepared using computer generated turning path software and associated CAD drawing platforms. Vehicle data based upon relevant Australian Standards (AS/NZS 2890.1-2004 Parking facilities - Off-street car parking, and/or AS 2890.2-2002 Parking facilities - Off-street commercial vehicle facilities). These standards embody a degree of tolerance, however the vehicle characteristics in these standards represent a suitable design vehicle and do not account for all variations in vehicle dimensions / specifications and/or driver ability or behaviour.
126 PARKII	no. revision note by. date
RETA 82, 83	
COMA B3.	
B4	
LEGEND	
BASEMENT CARPARK	
RÉTAIL - Atled Retail - Supermarket	
	Swept Path Legend:
WC -	Vehicle Body Envelope
MALE	Clearance Envelope (300mm)
	architect
	Sissons Architects
	Client
	scale
	1:250 @ A3
	0m 2 4 6 8 1 1 1 1 1
	project
	24-26 Railway Parade, Westmead
	Traffic and transport planners
	Suite 2.08, 50 Hold Street Surry Hills NSW 2010
	Strawberry Hills NSW 2012
	t:+61 2 8324 8700 f:+61 2 9380 4481 e: info@traffix.com.au traffix
	traffic & transport planners drawing title
	Swept Path Analysis Loading Dock
	8.8m Medium Rigid Vehicle
	drawn: SW checked: BL date: 30 Oct 18
	ID.443 I- IX.U3I - project no. drawing phase. drawing no. rev

Notes
This drawing is prepared for information purposes only. It is not to be used for construction.
TRAFFIX is responsible for vehicle swept path diagrams and/or drawing mark-ups only. Base drawing prepared by others.
Vehicle swept path diagrams prepared using computer generated turning path software and associated CAD drawing platforms. Vehicle data based upon relevant Australian Standards (AS/NZS 2890.1-2004 Parking facilities - Off-street car parking, and/or AS 2890.2-2002 Parking facilities - Off-street commercial vehicle facilities). These standards embody a degree of tolerance, however the vehicle characteristics in these standards represent a suitable design vehicle and do not account for all variations in vehicle dimensions / specifications and/or driver ability or behaviour.

no. revision note			by. d	ate
Swept Path Legend:				
Wheel Path				
Vehicle Body E	Invelope			
	elone (300mr	0)		
	ciope (oconii	,		
architect				
Sissons Architects				
client				
Dhirr ty Etd				
scale				
1:200 @ A3				
0m 2 4	6	8	3	
			<u> </u>	
project				
24-26 Railway Para	ade, Wes	stmead		
drawing prepared by				
TRAFFIX			\sim	
suite 2.08, 50 Holt Street	rs	1		
Surry Hills NSW 2010		(50	
PO Box 1124 Strawberry Hills NSW 2012		1		
t: +61 2 8324 8700 f: +61 2 9380 4481				
e: info@traffix.com.au		roffic 9 to	traffix	DORE
drawing title		ramu a ti	ansport piar	1013
Swept Path Analys	is			
B2 Level				
		DI		Dec 10
drawn: SW ch	ecked:	BL	date: 11	Dec 18
16.443		· · ·	TX.04	1 -
		•	- -	- •

Notes	
This drawing is prepared for information purposes only. I to be used for construction.	t is not
TRAFFIX is responsible for vehicle swept path diagrams drawing mark-ups only. Base drawing prepared by others	and/or
Vehicle swept path diagrams prepared using cou- generated turning path software and associated CAD of platforms. Vehicle data based upon relevant Aus Standards (AS/NZS 2890.1-2004 Parking facilities - Of car parking, and/or AS 2890.2-2002 Parking faci- Off-street commercial vehicle facilities). These sta embody a degree of tolerance, however the characteristics in these standards represent a suitable vehicle and do not account for all variations in dimensions / specifications and/or driver ability or behavior	mputer Irawing stralian f-street lities - ndards vehicle design vehicle pur.
no. revision note by. dat	te
Swept Path Legend:	
Wheel Path	
Vehicle Body Envelope	
Sissons Architects	
client Drill Ptv I td	
scale	
1:200 @ A3	
project 24-26 Railway Parade, Westmead	
drawing prepared by TRAFFIX traffic and transport planners	
Suite 2.08, 50 Holt Street Surry Hills NSW 2010 PO Box 1124 Strawberry Hills NSW 2012	
t: +61 2 8324 8700 f: +61 2 9380 4481 e: info@traffix.com.au traffix	
drawing title Swept Path Analysis B3 Level	iers
drawn: SW checked: BL date: 11 l	Dec 18
	1
16.443 I- TX.05 project no. drawing phase.	- rev

Notes
This drawing is prepared for information purposes only. It is not to be used for construction.
TRAFFIX is responsible for vehicle swept path diagrams and/or drawing mark-ups only. Base drawing prepared by others.
Vehicle swept path diagrams prepared using computer generated turning path software and associated CAD drawing platforms. Vehicle data based upon relevant Australian Standards (AS/NZS 2890.1-2004 Parking facilities - Off-street car parking, and/or AS 2890.2-2002 Parking facilities - Off-street commercial vehicle facilities). These standards embody a degree of tolerance, however the vehicle characteristics in these standards represent a suitable design vehicle and do not account for all variations in vehicle dimensions / specifications and/or driver ability or behaviour.
no. revision note by, date
Swept Path Legend:
Wheel Path
Vehicle Body Envelope
Clearance Envelope (300mm)
architect Sissons Architects
client Drill Pty Ltd
scale
1:200 @ A3
project 24-26 Railway Parade, Westmead
TRAFFIA traffic and transport planners Suite 2.08, 50 Holt Street
Surry Hills NSW 2010 PO Box 1124 Strawberry Hills NSW 2012
t: +61 2 8324 8700 f: +61 2 9380 4481 e: info@traffix.com.au traffix
traffic & transport planners drawing title
B4 Level
drawn: SW checked: BL date: 11 Dec 18
16.443 - TX.06 - project no. drawing phase. drawing no. rev

APPENDIX F

Vertical Clearance Test

	Notes
	This drawing is prepared for information purposes only. It is not to be used for construction.
- 12	TRAFFIX is responsible for vehicle swept path diagrams and/or drawing mark-ups only. Base drawing prepared by others.
	Vehicle swept path diagrams prepared using computer generated turning path software and associated CAD drawing platforms. Vehicle data based upon relevant Australian Standards (AS/NZS 2890.1-2004 Parking facilities - Off-street car parking, and/or AS 2890.2-2002 Parking facilities - Off-street commercial vehicle facilities). These standards embody a degree of tolerance, however the vehicle characteristics in these standards represent a suitable design vehicle and do not account for all variations in vehicle dimensions / specifications and/or driver ability or behaviour.
	no. revision note by. date
PPER GROUND	
500	
WER GROUND	
L 31.300	
DADING DOCK	
L F6957ASEMENT	
L 28.100	
	Swept Path Legend:
	Wheel Path
	Vehicle Body Envelope
	Clearance Envelope (300mm)
B	architect Sissons Architects
	client
	Drill Pty Ltd
	scale
	1:200 @ A3
LIN GROOND	project
.500	24-20 Raliway Parade, Westmead
WER GROUND	drawing prepared by
L 31.300	TRAFFIX
DADING DOCK	Suite 2.08, 50 Holt Street Sury Hills NSW 2010
	PO Box 1124 Strawberry Hills NSW 2012
28.100	t: +61 2 8324 8700 f: +61 2 9380 4481 e: info@traffix.com.au
-	traffic & transport planners drawing title
	Vertical Clearance Test Loading Dock
	12.5m Heavy Rigid Vehicle (4.5m Height)
	drawn: SW checked: BL date: 31 Oct 18
	16.443 - TX.07 - rev

Notes
This drawing is prepared for information purposes only. It is not to be used for construction.
TRAFFIX is responsible for vehicle swept path diagrams and/or drawing mark-ups only. Base drawing prepared by others.
Vehicle swept path diagrams prepared using computer generated turning path software and associated CAD drawing platforms. Vehicle data based upon relevant Australian Standards (<i>AS/NZS 2890.1-2004 Parking facilities - Off-street car parking</i> , and/or <i>AS 2890.2-2002 Parking facilities - Off-street commercial vehicle facilities</i>). These standards embody a degree of tolerance, however the vehicle characteristics in these standards represent a suitable design vehicle and do not account for all variations in vehicle dimensions / specifications and/or driver ability or behaviour.
no. revision note by. date
Swept Path Legend:
Wheel Path
Vehicle Body Envelope Clearance Envelope (300mm)
architect Sissons Architects
client Drill Pty Ltd
scale
1:200 @ A3 0m 2 4 6 8
project
24-20 Raliway Faraue, Westinead
drawing prepared by
traffic and transport planners Suite 2.08, 50 Holt Street
PO Box 1124 Strawberry Hills NSW 2012
t +61 2 8328 8700 f + 61 2 8380 4481
e: info@traffix.com.au traffix traffic & transport planners
drawing title Vertical Clearance Test
Basement Car Park B99 Vehicle
drawn: SW checked: BL date: 31 Oct 18
16.443 - TX.08 -
project no. drawing phase. drawing no. rev

APPENDIX G

Existing On-Street Signage Plan

	Existing Signage Plan	Date:	04.09.2017	TRAFFIC & TRANS	
Project:	24-26 Railway Parade, Westmead	Prepared By:	Eamon McBride	Suite 2.08 50 Holt Street	
Project Number:	16.443	Approved By:	Alexandra Kavanagh	Surry Hills NSW 2010	
Client:	First Point Property	Signature:	ARJ.	info@traffix.com.a	

APPENDIX H

Proposed Public Domain Plan


		Rev.	Date	Comment	North	Project
General Notes	Copyright	A	8.05.2018	B DA SUBMISSION		24-26 Railway Parade W
 Do not scale drawings. Dimensions govern. All dimensions are in millimetres unless noted otherwise. All dimensions shall be verified on site before proceeding with the work All ormissions or discrepancies shall be notified to the architect 5. Mechanical and Electrical plant and services shown are 	The copyright of this drawing together with any other documents prepared by Sissons Architects remains the property Sissons Architects. Sissons Architects grants licence for the use of this document for the purpose for which it is intended. The licence is not transferable	B	6.10.2018	B REVISED DA		NSW
		\vdash				
						Client
indicative only. Refer to Service Engineers drawings.	without the permission of Sissons Architects .					
6. All steelwork section sizes are indicative only. Refer to Structural Engineers drawings for serial sizes						Drill Pty Ltd

_						
			T			
				i i		
		i				
		į				
		1				
				150		
			157	159		
		1				
		- i				
		1				
		- i				
		ļ.				
151-155						
		l l				
		į		1		
				.L		
	144					
			Ì			
etmond 21/F		Drawin				
sunead 2145	Studio 501, Level 5	OVE	KALL GROUND FLOOR	PLAN - PROPOSED		
	53 Berry St, North Sydney, NSW 2060 Tel. 02 8904 1853					
	www.sissonsarchitects.com	DFA	ELUPMENT APPLIC	ATION		

16-021 DA009 Project No. Drawing No.

1:250 @A1 HALF SCALE @ A3

B